IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE IITH

JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-

DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

GENERAL JURISDICTION DIVISION

CASE NO. :

CARL KESSER and MARTHA KESSER, 

his wife,   

Plaintiffs, 

-vs-

THE CITY OF MIAMI and JOHN DOES 

and JANE DOES 1 through 10, Officers of

THE CITY OF MIAMI POLICE DEPART-

MENT, in their official and individual 

capacities,

Defendants.

_________________________________/

COMPLAINT
COME NOW Plaintiffs, CARL KESSER and MARTHA KESSER, his wife, through undersigned counsel, and sue Defendants, THE CITY OF MIAMI and JOHN DOES and JANE DOES 1 through 10, Officer’s of THE CITY OF MIAMI POLICE DEPARTMENT, in their official and individual capacities, and in support therefore, state:


GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
1.   This is an action for damages in excess of Fifteen Thousand ($15,000.00) Dollars exclusive of interest and costs.

2.   On or about November 20, 2003, Plaintiff, CARL KESSER,  was injured, due to the unreasonable and excessive force utilized by the City of Miami and its police officers on November 20, 2003 in downtown Miami during the Free Trade Area of the Americas Conference.  Mr. Kesser is a lifelong Miami resident, who, on November 20, 2003, was engaged in his professional occupation as an independent documentary film maker, covering the Free Trade Area of the Americas Conference in downtown Miami.  On the afternoon of November 20, 2003, Mr. Kesser was in the area of N.E. Third Street and N.E. Second Avenue, engaged in his professional occupation as an independent documentary film maker, who posed no threat or risk of harm to the police officers in the area, or to other persons or property, but was merely engaged in videotaping the events of the day, when he was injured as a result of  projectiles fired by the police which struck him, most notably a “bean bag” projectile fired at close range which struck Mr. Kesser in the side of the head causing serious and permanent injury.  MARTHA KESSER, wife of CARL KESSER, seeks vindication of her rights for a loss of consortium as a result of her husband’s injuries.  

PARTIES

3.    Plaintiffs, CARL KESSER and MARTHA KESSER, his wife, are residents of the City of Miami in Miami-Dade County, Florida and otherwise sui juris. 

4.    Defendant, THE CITY OF MIAMI, is an incorporated City within the State of Florida.

5.   Defendants, JOHN DOES and JANE DOES, are individuals employed by the City of Miami Police Department, whose identities are not now known to the Plaintiffs.  These Defendants violated the civil rights of CARL KESSER, and caused him severe injury, by firing projectiles at him, and others, during the Free Trade Area of the Americas Conference on November 20, 2003, in the City of Miami, Florida.  Among the projectiles which struck Mr. Kesser was a “bean bag” projectile fired from a rifle-type weapon which struck Mr. Kesser in the side of the head causing him severe and permanent injuries.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

6.    The Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA) meeting was held in Miami, Florida from November 17 through November 20, 2003.  During the weeks and months leading up to the FTAA meetings, the City of Miami and the City of Miami Police Department, including its officers and officials, undertook the planning of operations to control any demonstrations by individuals who were anticipated to be protesting against the FTAA.  As part of the planning leading up to the FTAA meetings, the City of Miami and its police force made extensive plans for the use of force, including the use of supposedly “less lethal weapons” to control the crowds and to restrict individual movement and expression.  As part of this planning and training, certain officers, whose identifies are unknown to Plaintiffs at this time, were equipped with and trained in the use of “bean bag” rifles which fire a “bean bag” projectile of pellets contained in a sack and which are meant to be fired at specific individuals.  

7.   Prior to the FTAA meetings in November 2003, it was known to the City of Miami,  its police department, and its individual officers, that the use of “bean bag” rifles and “bean bag” projectiles had been known to cause serious injuries, including death, to individuals struck by these projectiles.  Despite this knowledge, the City of Miami and its’ police department demonstrated deliberate indifference to the rights of CARL KESSER and others, and deliberate indifference to the risk of serious injury to CARL KESSER and others by instructing police officers to utilize these weapons.  

8.  On Thursday, November 20, 2003, The City of Miami police Department and its officers amassed a force on N.E. Third Street and began to move westward in order to force individuals in that area to flee from the area.  Plaintiff, CARL KESSER, a lifelong resident of Miami, Florida, was on the sidewalk, on the north side of the street, west of the intersection with N.E. Second Avenue.  At that time and place, Mr. Kesser was not a protester, but was a law-abiding citizen who was  filming the events of the day in his capacity as an independent documentary film maker.  

9.    As the police pushed westward in a battle line formation, a number of police officers began firing “less lethal weapons” at individuals in the area, including a businesswoman, wearing a business suit, who was walking away from the police, carrying a sign, who nonetheless was struck repeatedly in the back and other places with rubber bullets.  

10.   As Mr. Kesser was filming these events, additional Miami police officers, including Defendants, JOHN DOES and/or JANE DOES, who’s identities are unknown to the Plaintiffs at this time, fired “bean bag” rifles, and one of these “bean bag” projectiles directed at Mr. Kesser struck him in the right side of the head and embedded itself in the tissue under the skin, in the area of his right temple behind his right eye.  

11.  Bleeding profusely, Mr. Kesser struggled to his feet so as to leave the area and to seek medical attention.  As he left, Mr. Kesser was struck again by repeated rounds of rubber bullets.  

12.   Mr. Kesser was finally evacuated from the area and was taken to the hospital, where he underwent surgery for the removal of the “bean bag” projectile which had been embedded in the right side of his head.  

13.   The incident of misconduct and injury by the City of Miami Police suffered by Mr. Kesser was just one among many that occurred during the FTAA meetings of November 18 through 21, 2003, in Miami, Florida. 

14.    Mr. Kesser did not engage in any unlawful conduct that would have justified him being shot in the head with a “bean bag” projectile which seriously injured him.  

15.  What happened to Plaintiff, CARL KESSER, was not an isolated incident of the City of Miami Police Department’s use of unreasonable and excessive force at the FTAA meeting.  Witness accounts as well as filmed accounts demonstrate a number of other similar episodes, including a prior head injury suffered by a young female as a result of a “less lethal projectile.”  

16.    The force used by the City of Miami police officers against Mr. Kesser was excessive and without lawful justification.  

17.   Mr. Kesser did not pose any risk to the police officers in the area.  No reasonable police officer could have concluded that Mr. Kesser posed any risk of harm to the police officers or to other persons or property in the area.  Rather, Mr. Kesser was an independent journalist filming the events in the area while moving away from the advancing police line.  As the “bean bag” weapons are “target specific” it is entirely possible that Mr. Kesser was targeted and shot because he was visually recording what many people would later complain to be excessive use of force by police, including the use of “less lethal weapons” fired numerous times at innocent people in the area.  

18.   The use of force by the City of Miami Police Department and its officers against an non-threatening individual clearly violated Mr. Kesser’s civil liberties.  

19.   City of Miami Police Officers JOHN DOES and JANE DOES knew or should have known Mr. Kesser posed no threat to them or to other persons or property in the area, and therefore their excessive use of force against him was unreasonable and violated his civil liberties.

20.   The City of Miami failed to properly train its police officers on the appropriate use of “less lethal” weapons, which are target-specific weapons, and failed to train and instruct its police officers, and restrict the use of such weapons, against non-threatening individuals such as Mr. Kesser, was a reckless disregard of his civil rights as a non-violent, non-threatening individual.  No reasonable police officer could have believed that Mr. Kesser posed any risk of harm to the police officers or other persons or property in the area.  

21.   Upon information and belief, the City of Miami and the City of Miami Police Department did not have in place, and does not have in place, adequate safeguards and policies limiting the use of these weapons so as to assure that demonstrators and innocent bystanders would not be placed at unnecessary risk of injury.  

22.  The Defendants’ actions were taken under color of law.  

23.   Mr. Kesser filed a Notice of Claim with the City of Miami, on March 1, 2004 pursuant to F.S. § 768.28, to which there has been no response, and any and all conditions precedent to the maintenance of  this action have been fulfilled.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

24.   The City of Miami and The City of Miami Police Department’s policies and practices of using “bean bag” rifles and “bean bag” projectiles and rubber bullets to disperse crowds of peacefully assembled demonstrators and innocent bystanders violates the First Amendment, the Fourth Amendment, and the Fourteenth Amendment  to the United States Constitution and violates 42 U.S.C. Section 1983.  

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

25.    The physical assault on CARL KESSER by means of shooting him in the head with a “bean bag” projectile and rubber bullets as he peacefully filmed the events of November 20, 2003 at the FTAA, constituted an unreasonable use of force, without basis or provocation, and violated his  First Amendment,  Fourth Amendment, and Fourteenth Amendment rights under the United States Constitution and his rights under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
26.    The physical assault on CARL KESSER by means of shooting him in the head with a “bean bag” projectile and rubber bullets  as he peacefully filmed the events of November 20, 2003 at the FTAA, effectuated by JOHN DOE/JANE DOE, a City of Miami police officer whose identity is not now known to Plaintiff, violated his First Amendment,  Fourth Amendment, and Fourteenth Amendment rights under the United States Constitution and his rights under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983.                


FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
27.    The physical assault on CARL KESSER by means of shooting him in the head with a “bean bag” projectile and rubber bullets  as he peacefully filmed the events of November 20, 2003 at the FTAA, was done under the supervision and direction of Defendants, JOHN DOES and/or JANE DOES, who were supervisory officers and/or unit commanders who have supervisory responsibility for the officers in their command, whose actions seriously injured CARL KESSER and violated his First Amendment,  Fourth Amendment, and Fourteenth Amendment rights under the United States Constitution and his rights under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983.  


FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
28. The Defendants owed a duty of reasonable care to Plaintiff, CARL KESSER and,

his wife, MARTHA KESSER, which they violated by discharging weapons, including bean bag weapons and rubber bullet weapons, in a negligent and/or reckless fashion which projectiles struck Mr. Kesser and as a proximate result of said negligent and/or reckless conduct, Mr. Kesser suffered severe and permanent injuries including, but not limited to, medical expenses, loss of wages and earning capacity, disfigurement, physical and emotional pain and suffering and mental anguish.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

29.    As a result of the injuries suffered by CARL KESSER, MARTHA KESSER, his wife, has been deprived of the services of her husband and the comfort and happiness of his society have been greatly impaired.  Further, Plaintiff MARTHA KESSER, has suffered a loss of consortium of her husband.

WHEREFORE the Plaintiffs request that this Court:

(a) Assume jurisdiction over this matter;

(b) Issue a declaratory judgment that the Defendants’ policies and practices of using “bean bag” rifles and projectiles to target and shoot individuals in violation of the First Amendment, the Fourth Amendment and the Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and violates rights guaranteed under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983.

(c) Award the Plaintiff, CARL KESSER, compensatory damages including, but not limited to, expenses for medical bills, loss of wages and earning capacity, disfigurment, physical and emotional pain and suffering, and mental anguish;

(d) Award the Plaintiff, MARTHA KESSER, his wife, compensatory damages for her loss of consortium;

(e) Award the Plaintiffs, CARL KESSER and MARTHA KESSER punitive damages against JOHN DOES and JANE DOES in their individual capacities; 

(f) Award the Plaintiffs attorney’s fees and costs; and

(g) Grant any other relief the Court deems appropriate. 

JURY DEMAND

30.    The Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury on each and every one of these claims.

Respectfully submitted;

FREIDIN & BROWN, P.A.

Suite 3100, One Biscayne Tower

2 South Biscayne Boulevard

Miami, FL 33131

Tel: 305-371-3666

       
By:_________________________________

        
     ROBERT D. BROWN

     Fla. Bar No.  353140

BROOKS HERMELEE GEFFIN 

25 S.E. Second Avenue 

Suite 1135

Miami, FL 33131-1506

Tel: 305-373-5444

By:_________________________________

      BRUCE G. HERMELEE, 

      Fla. Bar No.  133894

Cooperating Attorneys for the American Civil Liberties Union Foundation of Florida, Inc. - “Greater Miami Chapter”

ROSALIND J. MATOS 

South Florida Staff Counsel

ACLU FOUNDATION OF FLORIDA

4500 Biscayne Boulevard, #340

Miami, FL    33137

Fla. Bar No.  474967
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